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SUMMARY  
 

In June 2015 Archaeology South-East (a division of the Centre for Applied 
Archaeology, UCL) carried out a programme of historic building recording (Historic 
England Level 3) of Evendons Primary Free School (formerly White House School0, 
Firchampstead Road, Wokingham (NGR 480355 167026). The work was 
commissioned by Arcadis LLP on behalf of their client. 
 
The site forms a triangle of land situated on the west side of Finchampstead Road, to 
the west by Evendons Lane, and to the south by 20th-century housing. The site is 
occupied by the original historic residence and associated outbuildings, all since 
adapted or extended to be fit for purpose as a school. The buildings are situated 
towards the south-west of the site, with open lawned areas to its south-west parking 
to the north-west, and a sports field towards the north-east.  The site margins are 
ornamented by mature tree-lines, most prominent to the east. 
 
The core building appears to have evolved from an 18th-century building, which itself 
incorporated elements of an earlier timber-framed building, and which was then 
expanded to the south, east, and west in a series of developments. The earliest 
elements of the building seem to suggest a humble origin for the residence which is 
reflected in the earliest known name for the site as East Heath Cottage.  It is likely 
that the site grew in status over time, as residences within a commutable vicinity of 
London became increasingly in demand, and as each consecutive owner or tenant 
extended and improved on the residence. Many of the late 19th-century and early 
20th-century alterations and additions, including the construction of the ‘Old Hall’ can 
be attributed to the Garrard family, reflecting a clear influx of wealth and investment 
at the site. The large-scale late 20th-century additions to the former residence reflect 
the great increase in demand for school spaces, improvements in government 
standards of education, and increasing public demand for quality. 
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1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 In June 2015 Archaeology South-East (a division of the Centre for Applied 
Archaeology, UCL) carried out a programme of historic building recording 
(Historic England Level 3) of Evendons Primary Free School (formerly White 
House School), Finchampstead Road, Wokingham (Figure 1; NGR 480355 
167026). The work was commissioned by Arcadis LLP on behalf of their client. 
 

1.2 The site consists of a mix of interconnected buildings, originally converted for 
use as a school in 1948, with ongoing alterations throughout the 20th century. 
The school saw further works before reopening as Evendons Primary Free 
School for the start of the 2015/2016 school term. The buildings are of mixed 
dates, from probable mid-19th century to relatively recent, with a history 
running back to the 18th-century. 
 

1.3 This record forms part of a pre-planning application advice submission for the 
demolition of parts of Block A, Block C, D, and E, and the provision of new 
facilities to meet the school’s and government’s educational standards (Figure 
2). 
 
 

2.0 SCOPE & METHODOLOGY 
 
2.1 The scope of work and methodology for the building recording is detailed in a 

written scheme of investigation produced for the work by Archaeology South-
East, dated October 2015. The work was also carried out in accordance with 
the relevant CIfA standards and guidance.  
  

2.2 The building was recorded to Historic England Level 3 as defined in 
Understanding Historic Buildings: A guide to good recording practice (English 
Heritage 2006).  A Level 3 record is essentially an analytical record. 

 
2.3 The site was visited by Seth Price and Hannah Green on 3rd November 2015 

in order to carry out the recording work. This entailed the compilation of written 
notes, the verification of existing measured survey drawings and the 
production of a photographic record.   
 

2.4 The drawn record comprises plans of each floor of the buildings to illustrate 
their layouts. These are based on existing measured drawings, which have 
been verified for their accuracy, and amended and annotated where 
necessary. The resulting scaled drawings are included within the report as 
Figures 8 - 16. 
 

2.5 The photographic record was made using high-quality digital photography. 
Within the report selected digital images have been reproduced as plates, 
together with a full index of the digital photography and location plots 
(Appendix 1). A full catalogue of all photographs is included in the archive. 

2.6 Background research was undertaken in order to place the buildings within 
their historical context.  All sources consulted are listed in Section 8. 
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3.0 SITE LOCATION 
 
3.1 The site forms a triangle of land situated on the north-west side of 

Finchampstead Road, a two-laned road running north-east – south-west from 
Wokingham. The site is bound to the north-west by Evendons Lane, and to the 
south by 20th-century housing. The site is occupied by the original historic 
residence and associated outbuildings, all since adapted or extended to be fit 
for purpose as a school. The buildings are situated towards the south-west of 
the site on a broadly north-west – south-east alignment, hereafter simplified 
west – east.  There are open lawned areas to its south-west parking to the 
north-west, and a sports field towards the north-east. The site margins are 
ornamented by mature tree-lines, most prominent to the east. 

 
 
4.0 HISTORIC BACKGROUND  
 
4.1 The historic background of the site and the school has been covered in great 

detail in the document produced by Janet M. Firth in 1984 (Appendix 2) – the 
following draws largely from this document with a few additions. 
 
The White House 
 

4.2 The first recorded owners of the land are William and Elizabeth Allwright – 
Allwright’s is a name used to describe the site in several early documents. The 
initial estate consisted of some 20 acres. William and Elizabeth had passed by 
1775, with the property going to their daughters, Elizabeth and Hannah 
Allwright. The land was let in turn to Lawrence and John Mathews, Richard 
Webb, and finally the widow Sarah Bowyer. In 1784 the sisters elected to sell 
the land to Edward Lane for £260. On the 15th April 1785 Edward Lane is 
documented as selling on four acres of the estate, incorporating the subject 
site, for the sum of £260 to a Mathew Harrard. In 1791 the property was sold 
to William Osman, in agreement with George Morris who had use of the 
property and residence subject to the payment of two annuities. The Morris 
family remained at the site, which they had purchased from William Osman by 
at least 1817 (when the enclosure map documents them as owners of the 
property), until 1828 when George Morris II (son George Morris) leased the 
house and land to William Jenkins of Wokingham for a term of 12 years at £40 
per annum. The deed regarding the aforementioned lease records the layout 
of the residence with reference to various fittings and uses (Firth 1984: 35). In 
1833 William Jenkins formally purchased the house and land for £990, selling 
it in June 1840 to his relatives James and George Jenkins, tanners from 
Bristol. The deed described the property as consisting of two parcels, one of 3 
acres, and the other of 7 acres ‘with newly-erected cottage’. The 1842 
Wokingham Tithe Map (Figure 3) lists the property as being owned by a Mr. 
Jenkins, and consisting of 6 acres, 3 roods, and 33 perches. The map shows 
the main house, with several ancillary buildings to its east and south-east To 
the west, adjacent to Evendons Lane, is a gardener’s cottage and garden. The 
land encompassing the buildings is recorded as an orchard (north of the 
gardener’s cottage), and front and back meadow. 
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4.3 Following the death of William Jenkins in 1843, James and George Jenkins 
sold the property, listed as ‘East Heath Cottage’, to Watkin Charles Kenrick for 
£1000. Following his death in 1856, Watkin Charles Kenrick is recorded in two 
publications of the London Gazette (dated November 7th and 25th) as a ship 
owner, East India Captain, Hotel Keeper, and Gentleman, in notices calling for 
‘all persons having any claims or demands upon the estate of Watkin Charle 
Kenrick…’. The property was under the tenancy of a Thomas Bridges (of 
Kings Arms Yard) and Robert Bennett (died 1845). Following the death of the 
tenant Robert Bennett the property was sold by Mr. Kenrick on 29th September 
1846 to Sir Benjamin Smith for £1050. It is not clear whether Sir Benjamin 
Smith is the Whig Politician and dissenter of the same name, son to William 
Smith (notable dissenter and abolitionist), father to women’s rights activist 
Barbara Bodichon (founder of the Girton College) and explorer Benjamin Leigh 
Smith (noted for his explorations of Svalbard), and uncle to Florence 
Nightingale – but one can be hopeful. A Benjamin Smith is listed amongst the 
pending members to ‘the Honourable Band of Gentlemen-Pensioners’ in The 
Peerage of the United Kingdom 1833 alongside Robert Gibson of Sandhurst 
Lodge. Robert Gibson is documented as trustee to Sir Benjamin Smith with 
the responsibility for dealing with the White House property on his death. 
While owned by Sir Benjamin Smith, the property was under the tenancy of 
John Benjamin Smith (died 1851), John Lane, and finally Robert Garrard II. 
Robert Garrard II is recorded in residence at the ‘White House’ on the 1861 
census (925-1000 2008; White House Preparatory School 2012). Garrard 
leased the property in 1864 from Robert Gibson for £84 per annum on a seven 
year lease.  
 

4.4 The White House is shown on the 1871-2 Ordnance Survey mapping (Figure 
4) as ‘Eastheath Lodge’, while by 1912 (not shown) the house is labelled as 
‘White House’. Robert Garrard II died at the White House in 1881, though the 
family appear to retain possession of the property until at least 1912. Between 
1871-2 and 1899 (Figure 5) a structure housing a large drawing room (the Old 
Hall) with bedrooms upstairs was added to the north-west end of the main 
house. The Old Hall is shown with a curving bay on its north elevation. A 
veranda is shown to the east of the Old Hall, along the length of the south 
elevation of the residence. 
 

4.5 The Garrard family are notable for being the Crown Jewellers by appointment 
of Queen Victoria from 1843 to 2007, as well as fabricators of the America’s 
Cup (the oldest sporting trophy in the world), the I.C.C. Cricket World Cup, and 
the Premier League Trophy, amongst others (Garrard 2015). The Garrard firm 
was first established in 1735 by George Wickes, London. In 1802 Robert 
Garrard I took sole control of the firm, with his sons, including Robert Garrard 
II, running the company in turn. In 1909 the company was registered as 
Garrard & Company Ltd. The company has produced, or made use of, a 
number of highly notable pieces, including the Cullinan diamonds and the Koh-
i-Noor diamond. 

 
4.6 It is not clear when the Garrard family sold on the property, but by 1915 Col. 

Charles Reginald Phillips is the documented tenant (and likely owner) of the 
property. Col. Phillips served in the British army, first in India, being 
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documented in the London Gazette in 1886 as a member of the Bombay Staff 
Corps for his promotion to captain. He is mentioned again nine years later, in 
1895, as major, and in 1901 as being promoted to Lieutenant-Colonel in the 
Indian Staff Corps. Finally he is recorded as a member of The Duke of 
Cambridge’s Own (Middlesex Regiment) Lieutenant-Colonel ‘2nd for duty with 
a provisional batallion’. 
 

4.7 In 1918 the property passed Edith Isabella Edmonstone, widow to Neil 
Benjamin Edmonstone, Lietenant-Colonel in the 4th Hussars. Neil Benjamin 
Edmonstone was grandon to the alike-named Director of the East India 
Company (1765-1841). Edith was in the property until at the least 1939. Mrs. 
Edmonstone lived with her daughter, Marigold, son-in-law Lewis Hastings, and 
their children. Janet M. Firth recounts the memories of a Miss Winifred Woods 
(see Appendix 2), who worked as nursery maid for Mrs. Edmonstone’s 
daughter and son-in-law during the 1920s. Miss Wood’s account takes the 
reader through the house as it was room by room – the uses she describes 
are added as labels to the plans of Block A (Figures 8 and 9). Most notably 
she describes the divisions of space within the building, with servants’ quarters 
and kitchens to the east end, with circulation along the existing corridor. A 
green baize door is noted leading into the dining room (the large main room on 
the north side of the ground floor. A green baize door is a traditional 
demarcation of servant/master space divisions – a door lined with noise 
reducing baize cloth. 
 

4.8 During the war there are no records of who was in possession of the property. 
In 1946 Thomas Blandford, Henry Churchill, Cecil Schofield and Valerie 
Schofield are recorded at the house, followed by Marion McCracken, Henry 
Court, Gertrude Court, and Beryl Court. The property was acquired by Beryl 
Caudwell late in 1847 to become new home of the White House Preparatory 
School (see below). 
 
Evendons Primary Free School 
 

4.9 The White House Preparatory School, which occupied the site until 2012, 
began life in 1890 when the school was founded by Miss Laura Jane Baker at 
27 Milton Road, Wokingham. By 1893 the school had grown sufficiently to 
require reciting to a larger premise at Terrace Point. The school was named 
Grosvenor House School at this time. The school moved again in 1919 to 
Montague House, Broad Street, with approximately 100 students, 40 of whom 
boarded. In 1929 the school became a preparatory school for children under 
11 years old, moving to Albert Road in 1931. In 1939 the school was renamed 
again as Wokingham Preparatory School. In 1947 the White House was 
acquired, and in 1948 the school moved in, becoming the White House 
School. A new building program was instigated to adapt and modernise the 
site – including the addition of tennis courts and a swimming pool (hand-dug 
by Miss Caudwell and Miss Lee). Throughout the later 20th century the site 
continued to evolve, with the addition of several smaller buildings by 1977, and 
the eventual addition of a large wing to the south of the school and a structure 
to its west end by 2003. At the end of the 2012 school term the White House 
Preparatory School closed its doors, having received a fall in pupil numbers 
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despite ranking in the Sunday Times’ top 40 preparatory schools in the country 
(GetReading 2012). 
 

4.10 In August 2012 local parents met to discuss the need for a local primary 
school, submitting a bid to the Department for Education to open a new school 
under the Government’s Free Schools Programme at the site of the recently 
closed White House Preparatory School. The bid was approved in 2013 and 
the site was acquired. The school opened on 4th September 2014 with 98 
pupils, exceeding the initial target of 25 pupils. 

 
 
5.0  DESCRIPTION OF THE BUILDINGS 

 
5.0.1 The site is formed of the large main school building (Block A), a compound of 

structures of differing dates and styles, alongside four ancillary structures 
(Blocks B, C, D and E). The original core of the main school building is formed 
of a historic residence which, along with Blocks C, D and E, predates the 1842 
tithe map. Block B is of late 20th-century date. The structures are all situated 
towards the south-west part of the site – a triangle of land between 
Finchampstead Road and Evendons Road. The site is accessed from 
Finchampstead Road to the south-east, with a gate leading to a courtyard 
between Blocks A, C, D and E, and from Evendons Road to the west, via a 
paved car park. The grounds retain a number of mature trees and plantings, 
many of which are part of the historic site which was notable for its beautiful 
gardens. The following text will describe each block in turn. The later 20th 
century elements of Block A are given only a very cursory description, while 
photographs of the rooms are included within the catalogue. 

 
5.1  Block A 
 

Overview 
 
5.1.1 Block A is an irregular two-storey ‘L’ shaped amalgam of different structures, 

formed by a late-19th (the Old Hall; former drawing room and bedrooms) and 
two late 20th-century extensions off an earlier core building. The core building, 
which formed the earlier residence, comprises a mix of 18th and 19th-century 
phases of construction, with two separate roofs running parallel east – west. 
To the south side of the east end of the core building are a couple of 20th-
century structures (classrooms and the main hall) connected to the former 
residence by a single-storey link building. At the west end of the former 
residence is the Old hHall, to which a late 20th-century structure (classrooms) 
has been appended. At the time of the survey the 20th-century structures were 
largely in use, while the majority of the earlier structure was out of use due to 
its poor structural integrity. The exception being the ground floor of the ‘Old 
Hall’ which is in comparatively good condition. The following description will 
focus on the core building and Old Hall. 
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Exterior 
 

5.1.1 The exterior of the building is largely dominated by the facades of the 18th- and 
19th-century elements, with the elevations of the 20th-century aspects being 
sufficiently underwhelming to warrant only passing mention. 

 
5.1.2 The north elevation (Plate 1) of Block A is the principal elevation, providing the 

main point of entry towards its western end. From east to west is the core 
building, with projecting bays (early 20th century in date) to either side, followed 
by the Old Hall, and finally the 20th-century extension. The elevation is 
dominated by painted mock timbering along the upper floor of the core 
building, and timber mock timbering on the upper floor of the Old Hall. The 
20th-century extension continues the admittedly naff theme, thus unifying the 
façade. An array of mid- to late 20th-century windows festoon the elevation – 
the majority of original windows having been stripped out due to decay during 
the conversion of the former residence to a school in 1947/8 (Firth 1984). It is 
likely that a six-over-six pane horned sash window towards the east end of the 
elevation, and a precious little oeil-de-boeuf below it, is of 19th-cenutry date 
(Plate 2). Windows elsewhere set with fixed six-pane overlights are likely early 
20th-century in date, with later 20th-century single-pane glazing (Plate 3). The 
six-pane overlight windows on the Old Hall feature tiled hoods with moulded 
console brackets (Plate 4). One such window is situated at the intersection of 
the Old Hall and core building, and wraps around the corner (Plate 5). A 
curved single-storey bay projects from the ground floor of the old hall, and is 
depicted on the historic OS mapping (see above). The bay is set with a series 
of seven of the six-pane overlight windows. The windows on the ground floor 
of the core building feature faux louvred shuttering. A moulded cornice marks 
the transition from ground floor to first floor on the Old Hall, and on the 
projecting bays at either end of the core building (Plate 6). The lower walls of 
the western projecting bay, Old Hall, and the late 20th-century extension are 
coated in a textured cement render.  

 
5.1.3 The west elevation of Block A consists of the late-20th century extensions, 

masking the west end of the Old Hall and core building (Plate 7). With the link 
building, main hall, and classrooms extending to the south (Plate 8). 
 

5.1.4 From the south the modern extensions again mask sections of the older 
structures, though the full elevation of the Old Hall is visible (Plate 9), as well 
as the upper storey of the core building (Plate 10). As with the north elevation, 
the upper storey has been questionably ornamented with faux-timbering on 
both historic structures, with cement render on the lower level of the Old Hall. 
uPVC windows are in evidence across the first floor of both buildings, while 
early 20th-century windows are present on the ground floor of the Old Hall. The 
windows in the core building are at irregular heights, corresponding with 
variations in floor heights and associated building phases (as will be seen 
below). Windows on the upper floor of the Old Hall feature the tiled hoods 
mentioned above, while on the ground floor they are ornamented with simple 
lintels with moulded cornices and rounded fascia (Plate 11). The doorway at 
the centre of the Old Hall has been inserted, most likely within what was 
originally a window opening (Plate 12). The doorway retains a window lintel 
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above. A section of the ground floor of the core building is visible behind a 
metal barrier, revealing a set of French doors encompassed by side lights and 
a series of overlights. Abutting this section of the core building is a metal, glass 
roofed, veranda (Plate 13) – likely a remnant of the veranda shown on the 
mapping, and mentioned in the 1828 deed, to have run along the entire south 
side of the building.  

 
5.1.5 The east end of the core building faces partly onto the west elevation of Block 

C, with the courtyard area to its south-east (Plate 14). The elevation 
demonstrates the first clear indications of phasing within the former residence, 
revealing two separately roofed adjacent structures orientated east – west. 
The southern structure is shorter than the northern at first floor level, with a low 
flat-roofed extension at ground level. The elevation of the north side of the 
building features a bay window (Plate 15) set with six six-pane windows and a 
pitched slated roof terminating at first floor level, as well as an entryway set 
beneath a small gabled hood supported on console brackets (Plate 16). A 
single inserted window is set towards the south of the elevation. The roof 
above the bay window continues south to form a porch atop an entrance into 
the southern side of the building. This entrance leads to the former servant’s 
passage, as described in Miss Winifred Wood’s account (Firth 1984). The 
doorway is set with a panelled half-timbered door with two lights. A window is 
set in the first floor elevation of the south building, at a height at odds with 
other windows on that side. The window opening appears contemporaneous 
with the wall within which it is set, and features a shallow segmental arch lintel. 
The single storey extension east of the south side of the building appears to be 
a much altered and rebuilt yet nevertheless early part of the building – 
appearing on early mapping. The altered state of the extension leaves much to 
be desired, with an ugly flat roof and inserted windows, with inserted steel 
reinforcement within, likely coinciding with the conversion of the block to use 
as a toilet. 

 
5.1.6 The roofs atop the core building and the Old Hall appear to be of consistent 

construction style, hipped and slate clad, with low profiles, and projecting 
eaves with timber soffits. In places chimneys project from the roofline, showing 
no consistency in style, or symmetry in placement. The irregularity of the 
chimney placement and style is indicative of the somewhat erratic phasing of 
the structures, reflecting their at times complex internal makeup. The roofs 
appear to be of 20th century date. 
 
Interior 
 
General Overview 
 

5.1.6 The interior of the core building has been much altered over the course of its 
history, with several general phases of rebuilding and extension being 
identified (Figures 15 and 16). The earliest substantially surviving phase of the 
building, likely dating to the mid- to late 18th century, forms the main range on 
the north side of the structure, although it appears that fragmentary remains of 
a pre-existing structure survive encompassed within the east walls of a late 
18th/early 19th century addition constructed to the rear.  This structure is so 
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fragmentary that it is now not possible to offer any great insights into its 
original form beyond noting its presence.  The Phase-2 structure on the north 
side of the building seems to have originally been building to correspond 
broadly with the pre-existing structure’s floor levels.  However, when the taller 
Phase-3 addition was constructed at the rear it seems that loftier ceiling 
heights were desired elsewhere and the ceiling level in the first floor of the 
Phase-2 range was increased accordingly.  The Phase-3 range is of slender 
primary-braced studwork to its upper level, although its lower level seems to 
have always been constructed in brick: this is quite common for buildings of 
this date.  The building subsequently underwent several phases of addition 
and alterations so that by 1842 it appears to have broadly corresponded to its 
existing footprint, with the exception of the Old Hall which had been built by 
1899, and an early 20th century extension at the opposite end of the building.  

 
5.1.8 At various times minor alterations to the internal layout occurred, including the 

insertion and removal of walls.  At the time of the site visit much of the interior 
of the structure had been stripped of fittings, wall coverings, and several 
interior (stud) walls. It appears that a raised floor was inserted in places 
following the conversion of the structure to a school – preserving the floor 
surfaces below. This later floor level has been removed during the recent 
works. Most doorways have been stripped of their architraves, and walls of 
their skirtings. Sections of both do survive however, indicating that many were 
refitted during the early to mid-20th century; possibly during the conversion of 
the residence to a school. Such fittings are constructed of a softwood – likely 
pine. The architraves are slight in form, with beaded ogee moulding, and 
narrow chamfered plinths at their bases, while the skirtings also exhibit ogee 
moulding (Plates 17 and 18). 

 
5.1.9 Fenestration is rarely regular within the building, with window openings varying 

with different phases of construction and many windows being replaced and 
likely enlarged with the conversion of the school.  

 
5.1.10 Likewise, the fabric of the building varies from phase to phase, with little 

consistency in brick bond, the use of timbers, or floor construction. In places 
timber elements appear to have been reused from earlier (no longer extant) 
buildings, as evidenced by void peg holes, mortices, and a scantling at odds 
with the rest of the building. 

 
 Ground Floor 
 

Room 1 (Formerly the Dining Room) 
 
5.1.11 According to the 1828 deed (see above) and the account given by Miss 

Woods, Room 1 was the formal dining room of the former residence. The room 
appears to have been divided by a simple partition while in use as a part of the 
school, though this has recently been removed returning the room to its 
original larger scale. The room is rectilinear, with a timber boarded floor, and a 
fireplace to the east end of the room (Plates 19 and 20). The fireplace is likely 
a later insertion – as evidence by an inserted, formerly external, chimney stack 
within Room 10 (adjacent to the east). The room’s walls are constructed of 
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brick, which is plastered on all but the north wall. The exposed brick on the 
north wall is constructed in a somewhat haphazard Flemish bond bound with a 
lime mortar. In places bond timbers are evident (Plate 21). Bond timbers are 
lengths of timber worked into a wall to strengthen it longitudinally. Bond 
timbers are found in brick built buildings in England through 18th century until 
the mid-19th century (Hurst 2006). Three large, likely inserted, mid-20th-century 
double-casement windows adorn the north wall of the room equipped with their 
original hardware. The room is accessed via two doorways to its west, and one 
to the south. The doorway to the south would have been fitted with a green 
baize door in its time – as described by Miss Woods and accounted for in the 
1828 sales deed. The construction of the ceiling is somewhat unusual (Plate 
22). Two large girders run the length of the room, linked by steel work and 
braced at the join by two 20th-century timbers. The girders support common 
joists, which are braced irregularly by spindly lengths of timber set diagonally 
between. Scars on the base of the joists indicate that the ceiling had been 
previously enclosed by lath and plaster.  

 
 Room 2 (Porch, Main Staircase and Hall) 
 
5.1.12 The hall and main staircase are accessed from the north via a large porch 

(Plate 23). The porch is constructed with brick lower walls with a faux-stone 
rendered finish which seems to date to the 1940s conversion of the building to 
a school. Atop the lower walls runs a series of twelve-pane fixed windows, with 
a large half-glazed door at the centre. Despite appearances it is possible that 
the structure is, in part, 19th century, as a porch is shown in a similar location 
on the historic maps as early as 1872. 

 
5.1.13 A large doorway leads from the porch to the hall (Plate 24). The hall is 

mentioned in the 1828 deed. The hall is rectangular in form, with doorways 
leading west to Room 1, east to Rooms 3 and 4, and north to Room 5 (Plate 
25). A single straight flight of stairs runs up the east side of the room to Room 
14 above. A large fireplace, now enclosed with a lath and plaster across its 
top, is situated along the west wall opposite the stair (Plate 26). The fireplace 
in recorded in the 1828 deed as having had a wooden chimneypiece. The hall 
is floored with wide timber boards. The walls of the hall have been stripped to 
bare brick in places, revealing a similarly haphazard bond to that seen in Room 
1; with English bond in the lower wall, and header bond with occasional 
stretchers above (Plate 27). As with Room 1 a bond timber was observed. In 
many places the walls exhibit the same faux-stone painted render seen in the 
porch (a theme which unfortunately continues through much of the building). 
The ceiling appears to be an original feature of the hall, with a large girder 
running north – south along the room supporting joists (Plate 28). In places 
signs of an earlier lath and plaster ceiling is evident. The joists have softwood 
timbers nailed onto them, presumably as reinforcement, or to attach a 
hardboard ceiling during the late 20th-century. The present stairs are not 
original to the room, although it is assumed they would have originally lain in 
this location. The stairs have an open string, with the outside ends of each 
tread being ornamented with a simple beaded trim (Plates 29). Below the stairs 
is an enclosed cupboard, formed by a panelled spandrel (Plate 30) with a 
beaded finish, and access being provided to the south. The construction of the 
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stair reveals its 20th-century construction, with machine made nails and 
softwood elements (Plate 31) 

 
 Room 3 (Lobby) 
 
5.1.14 Room 3 (Plate 32) is an almost square room providing secondary access to 

the building and linking the Old Hall (Room 13) with the hall (Room 2). The 
room has what appears to be a 20th-century timber floor. The walls are largely 
striped back to the brickwork, which is of a regular stock brick set in Flemish 
garden wall bond with a cement mortar. The room features a pair of French 
doors to the west within an intact architrave as described above (Plate 33). 
The doorway has been inserted in the location of what was either a window or 
earlier door – as evidenced by a segmented arch formed of two rows of bricks 
set off-centre above the door. On the east wall of the room is a 19th-century 
fireplace, stripped of its chimneypiece and other paraphernalia as elsewhere in 
the building (Plate 34). A flat brick arch atop a metal brace supports the lintel 
over the fireplace. The ceiling is constructed of joists set into the surrounding 
walls and orientated east – west (Plate 35). The joists were at some point 
enclosed by a lath and plaster ceiling, which has since been removed. Above 
the rafters are a series of crude, wide, laths topped with further plaster – 
presumably as a draft deterrent. Above the room a hole in the floor shows the 
underside of a stair leading to the upper floor of the Old Hall (Room 21). The 
short passage to Room 2 is arched (Plate 36). 

 
 Room 4 (Toilet/Store) 
 
5.1.15 Room 4 is a rectangular room accessed via Room 2.  It was previously in use 

as a bathroom as evidenced by a pipe fitting in the west wall of the room, and 
a partially removed cubicle division across the centre of the room (Plate 37). 
The room was filled with construction material at the time of the survey. The 
north and west walls are constructed in English bond, while the south wall, 
shared with Room 3, is in Flemish garden wall bond – indicating that Room 4 
was constructed later that Room 3.  This part of the building was probably in 
place by 1842, if not shortly thereafter. Two horned sash windows are set in 
the north wall, one to either side of the partially removed division (Plate 38). 
The room retains some rather nice Edwardian era tiling (Plate 39) – it is 
presumed that the room was constructed, or reconstructed rather, during the 
early 20th century. 

 
 Room 5 (Formerly the Morning Room) 
 
5.1.16 The Morning Room (as it is described by Miss Woods) is a large square room 

on the south side of the building (Plates 40 and 41). In the 1828 deed the room 
is described as the drawing room, with French casements and a marble 
chimneypiece. The room is accessed via doorways to north and east, and a 
set of French doors to the south leading to the veranda (in fitting with the 1828 
deed). It is not clear whether the casement windows and French doors are 
original – though they seem to be later in date. The French doors and 
casement windows have simple ovolo mouldings (Plate 42). The doorway to 
the east leading to the servants’ passage is markedly smaller than that to the 
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entrance hall to the north (Plate 43). A large fireplace with a regal iron back 
plate set with a fleur-de-lis motif is situated to the east side of the room (Plate 
44). The fireplace is missing its chimneypiece which has been stripped away. 
Sections of bond timbers are visible to either side of the fireplace to add 
support. The walls of the room are largely plastered, though where visible the 
brickwork appears to be set in a mix of irregular header bond and English bond 
with lime mortar. The floor is boarded with softwood planks. The ceiling is 
formed of a series of deep-section joists orientated north – south with cross-
strutting providing stability. The joists were previously enclosed by a 
plasterboard ceiling which has been removed. It is apparent therefore that the 
floor has been replaced at some point during the latter half of the 20th century. 
A blocked doorway leading to the Old Hall is evident in the west wall of the 
room, where a timber lintel was observed (Plate 45). 

 
Room 6 (Formerly the Kitchen) 

 
5.1.17 Room 6 (Plate 46) is rectangular in plan, being described by Miss Woods as 

the Kitchen. It is likely that the room corresponds with the Kitchen described in 
the 1828 deed as: ‘Kitchen: one small cupboard by side of chimney opening, 
sliding door with runner and iron handles, wood chimneypiece’. The room has 
since been converted to a classroom – with an inserted internal window and 
doorway looking north into the corridor (Room 9). The room was in use as the 
‘little form room’ in 1984.  

 
5.1.18 The room is situated below the intersection of Rooms 17 and 18 (see above), 

which is visible within the room as the floor level of Room 18 is significantly 
lower than 17 resulting in a lower ceiling within the east of the room. The base 
of the wall above, where the ceiling lowers, is supported by a large timber 
beam bearing north-south. Room 6 appears to have been previously divided 
along this line, as indicated by a change in paint work on the north wall. 

 
5.1.19 The room is accessed via two doorways to the north (one of which has been 

described above), one to the east (to Room 7) and one to the south. The 
doorway to the south, formerly to the exterior, features a half-glazed door, with 
a substantial overlight of two, formerly four, four-pane windows (Plate 47). 
Additionally a former sidelight has been blocked to the west of the door. A flight 
of wedge-shaped brick steps descends at the west end of the room to the 
basement, which was not accessed due to the presence of asbestos (Plate 
48). The stairs to the basement are protected by a waist-high timber bannister 
and gate. A large window was formerly situated to the south side of the room, 
but has since been blocked (Plate 49).  

 
5.1.20 A chimney stack is situated at either end of the room. The fireplace to the west 

has been blocked, although part of the flue is exposed at the top of the wall 
(Plate 50) and partially survives above in Room 17. The fireplace to the east 
end of the room is far larger and likely later in date. The second fireplace has 
been stripped of its chimneypiece and has been knocked through into Room 7. 

 
5.1.21 Room 6 has a late 20th-century hardboard floor. The walls are of brick, 

plastered in places. Where the brick is exposed at the west end of the room 
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regular bond timbers are evident with intervening brickwork laid in stretcher 
bond (Plate 51). The brickwork at the east end of the room is in English bond, 
and corresponds with the mid-19th-century expansion of the building. The 
ceiling to the west side of the room, pertaining to the floor of Room 17 above, 
is formed by a series of joists bearing east – west (Plate 52). Some of the joists 
appear to have been reused, with a redundant mortice being evident in one 
case. Presumably the ceiling was enclosed by lath and plaster as elsewhere in 
the building, but as the joists have been coated in a substantial layer of paint it 
is not possible to say. The ceiling to the east is formed of a girder running east 
– west on which a series of joists are lain (Plate 53). Below the joists thin strips 
of softwood have been attached, onto which laths were nailed for a plastered 
ceiling (since removed). The girder is set off-centre, and joists to either side of 
it do not align. It may be that elements of the ceiling pertain to the presumed 
pre-existing structure on the site, remnants of which survive in the wall 
between Rooms 17 and 18. 

 
 Room 7 (Formerly the Scullery) 
 
5.1.22 Room 7 (Plate 54) is recounted by Miss Woods as having been the scullery 

although it is not clear whether this corresponds with the scullery mentioned in 
the 1828 document. The room functioned as the kitchen for the White House 
School, with cooking apparatus being installed in the former fireplace on the 
west side of the room (Plate 55). A small bay and service hatch has been 
inserted in the south end of the room (Plate 56), looking into the former lunch 
room in the late 20th-century link building adjacent. To accommodate the 
service area, part of the south wall of the building has been removed, and a 
pair of large timbers have been instated to take the load of the wall above 
(Plate 57). The floor of the room is of red quarry tiles as with the corridor 
beyond. Miss Woods informs us that the tiles ‘had to be scrubbed with water 
only’. Remnant resin smeared across the tiles implies that the floor was at 
some point coated in linoleum (or similar). The walls are for the most part 
plastered. The ceiling is of regular joists, with evidence of lath and plaster. 
Unusually a chamfered timber girder runs the length of the room along its west 
side; this does not appear to remain in situ and has presumably been reused 
from an earlier structure (possibly a part of what is left in evidence between 
Rooms 17 and 18) and was inserted to provide additional support for the 
ceiling. The timber is now obsolete, having been originally supported by the 
now removed end wall (Plate 57).  

 
 Room 8 (Formerly the Pantry) 
 
5.1.23 Formerly the pantry, Room 8 (Plate 58) was until recently in use as a toilet 

facility. The room is situated within the single storey extension at the east end 
of the building. The room is accessed via doorways to the north and south. The 
doorway to the south leads to the link building, though access is currently 
impeded by a temporary wooden blockade. The room has the same red quarry 
tiled floor as the corridor and Room 7 (see above). The structure of Room 8 
shows extensive signs of alteration, resulting in an unappealing shambles of a 
structure. Breezeblock walling has been inserted during the later 20th century 
to construct two bathrooms (Plates 59 and 60), while steel girders have been 



Archaeology South-East 
Evendons Primary Free School, Wokingham 

Historic Buildings Record 

 

 
 

added to strengthen the structure and support the later flat roof above. The 
roof appears to be of timber to the east, and concrete to the west. Additionally 
the window in the south side of the building has been messily inserted (Plate 
61). The brickwork is of orange bricks in a variable Flemish bond. 

 
 Room 9 (Formerly the Servants’ Corridor) 
 
5.1.24 The former servants’ corridor (Plate 62) runs through much of the length of the 

building, from its entrance at the east end of the building to the former Morning 
Room (Room 5). The corridor is the principal circulation route for the east end 
of the building. As mentioned above, the corridor is floored with red quarry 
tiles, while the walls are coated in the stone-effect painted render. It appears 
that a timber floor was inserted over the older tiled floor at some point during 
the 20th century. This is indicated by a gap between the plastering and the 
present floor surface, as well as an extant section of inserted flooring at the 
base of the stairs (Plate 63). The ceiling height varies along the length of the 
corridor, rising to a lath-and-plaster ceiling at the west end (Plate 64), before 
dropping to accommodate the lower floor level of the rooms to the east. The 
lower ceiling is supported by a series of formerly lath and plastered paired 
joists running parallel with the corridor (Plate 65).  

 
 Room 10 (Formerly the Servants’ Stair) 
 
5.1.25 Room 10 is a continuation of the servants’ corridor, descending a step before 

running north through a doorway to the north (Plate 66). A second doorway to 
the east of the room leads to Room 11. A closed-string dogleg staircase with 
winders is situated on the east side of the room (Plates 67).  It ascends to the 
north where a small toilet was formerly situated on the half landing, before 
returning to the landing above (Plate 68). A scar on the chimney stack on the 
west side of the room clearly shows where the wall which once enclosed the 
toilet used to lie (Plate 69). Doorways lead east and west from the landing 
(Plate 70). The stair is constructed of softwood, with a simple balustrade of 
square-sectioned balusters and a rounded hand rail. The newel posts feature 
squared finials with chamfered tops, and descend to form plain pendants 
below the landings. The chimney stack is clearly constructed against the west 
wall, not as an original part of it (Plate 71). Additionally a brick arch is visible on 
the ground floor being partially occluded by the stack (Plate 72). The arch is 
presumably related to a former window or doorway, which was blocked when 
the stack was constructed. Considering the form of the stack it was likely an 
external stack when first constructed, with Room 10 being built sometime later. 
It would also appear that the top of the chimney stack and top of the wall which 
it abuts (east wall of Room 14) have been extended or rebuilt at some point 
(likely during the later 19th century) as both exhibit a change in style of brick. 
The brickwork on the west wall is constructed in English Bond with lime mortar 
and a bond timber in evidence on the upper floor. The north wall is also 
constructed in English bond, with regular bond timbers framing the window 
opening (Plate 73) – corroborating an early 19th-century date for the enclosing 
of Room 10. The south wall however must have been reconstructed later being 
constructed in Flemish bond, with a larger brick type. There is an obsolete door 
opening in the south wall, which is set at odds with the present stair landing. 
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This implies that the stairs are of a later date presumably early 20th-century on 
the basis of their style, and contemporaneous with the extension housing 
Rooms 11, 12 and 20. The east wall is also constructed in Flemish bond. The 
north wall hosts the, likely original, horned sash window above the former 
bathroom and oeil-de-boeuf window (Plate 74) on the ground floor. A skylight 
is situated above the stair on the southern pitch of the roof (Plate 75). The 
ceiling is formed of lath-and-plaster. 

 
 Room 11 (Formerly part of the Servants’ Dining Room) 
 
5.1.26 Presumably Room 11 was formerly a part of the Servants’ Dining Room 

mentioned by Miss Woods, later to be a secondary entrance and cloakroom. 
The room is floored with a continuation of the red quarry tiles (Plate 76). The 
walls are constructed in Flemish bond, except the south wall which is 
constructed in English bond, suggesting it may be a later insertion. The north 
wall is set with a pair of horned sash windows similar to those in Room 4. The 
ceiling is of lath-and-plaster. 

 
 Room 12 (Formerly the Servants’ Dining Room) 
 
5.1.27 Room 12 (Plate 77) is a square room with a rectangular bay window to its east. 

The possible insertion of a wall to its north suggests that it may have been 
larger originally (see above). The west, south and east walls appear to be 
constructed in Flemish bond. The ceiling was formerly enclosed with lath-and-
plaster. A fireplace would have been situated to the south side of the room, 
where the chimney stack remains evident. 

 
 Room 13/The Old Hall (Formerly the Drawing Room) 
 
5.1.28 The former drawing room occupies the entire ground floor of the large 

extension to the west of the residence (Plates 78 and 79). The room is now 
known as the ‘Old Hall’. Miss Woods recounts polishing the floor with beeswax 
and turpentine, and how it was the only room in the 1920s to not be carpeted. 
The floor is of narrow pine boards which are possibly original. In its present 
state the room has been largely stripped of original fittings; the walls are 
plastered and painted, and the former doorways to the residence to the east 
have been blocked and hidden. To the north is the curved bay window, replete 
with a window seat (Plate 80). To the south, on either side of the inserted 
doorway, there are two windows featuring integrated window seats with 
panelled backs forming sills at the bases of their reeded architraves (Plate 81). 
The ceiling is ornamented with chamfered moulded plaster panelling: a 
repeating grid of large octagons and smaller squares (Plate 82). The fireplace 
at the west end of the hall was not visible at the time of the site visit. 
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First Floor 
 
 Room 14 (Formerly the Nurse’s Room, Parlour Maid’s Bedroom, and Lady’s 

Maid’s Bedroom) 
 
5.1.29 Room 14 (Plates 83 and 84) is presently one large room encompassing the 

entire upper floor of the late 18th/early 19th-century structure to the north of the 
presumed original structure. Until recently the room was divided into three 
separate rooms and a corridor by simple stud wall partitions – with the former 
nurse’s room to the east, followed by the parlour maid’s room and the lady’s 
maid’s room. According to the 1828 deed the room was a bedroom and 
dressing room, with the best stairs. The room is accessed from the ground 
floor via the main staircase. The top of the stair was previously enclosed by 
stud wall partitions (Plate 85). Doorways lead off the room from east and 
south, with a continuation of the stairs ascending to the west towards Rooms 
16, 17 and 21. The continuation of the stair (Plate 86) is characterised by two 
flights in different styles of construction – though both simple and likely not 
original. The first leads to a short landing, with access south to Room 17. The 
second provides access to a short corridor to Rooms 15 and 16 (Plate 87), as 
well as further west to Room 21 (the Old Hall) (Plate 88). The stairs are 
enclosed by abutting walls, and are devoid of handrails or other such 
paraphernalia. The upper flight features a closed string/skirting with torus 
moulding. 

 
5.1.30 The room is floored with fairly substantial timber boards, orientated east – 

west. The ceiling is clad in plasterboard, though presumably it was formerly of 
lath-and-plaster construction. Indeed, lath-and-plaster ceiling material was 
observed above sections of lowered ceiling corresponding to the hallway and 
wall partitions. The walls are constructed in the same erratic English bond with 
occasional bond timbers as seen on the ground floor, disrupted in places by 
inserted or blocked openings.  The walls appear to have been increased in 
height at a later date, the original wall top being marked by wall plates which 
remain in situ.  

 
5.1.31 Two small blocked windows surmounted by arched lintels are visible in the 

north wall and appear to be related to this part of the building’s original 
construction (Plate 89). In their place three larger window openings have been 
inserted within the wall, set with double casement windows. On the south wall 
a presumed window lintel was observed, the rest being hidden behind intact 
plaster.  This is somewhat curiously situated at a lower level than those on the 
north wall, although it could possibly be explained as a stair window; without 
seeing more of the blocked opening it is not possible to say. At the east end of 
the room is a blocked fireplace, and what is presumably a blocked doorway 
with encompassing sections of rebuilt wall, likely pertaining to the various 
phases of construction and reconstruction within the stairway. The fireplace in 
the west wall (Plate 90) is of a later date, likely being contemporaneous with 
the blocked fireplace in the east wall, which is in turn related to the 
construction of the external chimney in Room 10 (early 19th century). The 
fireplace is a simple cast iron affair with a brick hearth and chamfered timber 
chimneypiece. The south side of the west wall would have been knocked 
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through with the first extension to that side, with the staircase being inserted 
during the later 19th-century to access the master bedrooms above the drawing 
room (the Old Hall).  

 
 Room 15 (Formerly the Bathroom) 
 
5.1.32 The original use of Room 15 (Plate 91) is unclear, although has latterly been 

used as a bathroom.  It seems this part of the building was probably in place 
by 1842, or if not shortly thereafter. The room is a simple box shape with what 
appears to be a hardboard floor, which was clad in linoleum (which has since 
been removed). The room is accessed from the south, via a short corridor to 
the stairs from Room 14. The walls are of brick in English bond, set with a pair 
of casement windows with six-pane overlights and a reeded architrave. A 
distinct change in construction on the east wall of the room (Plate 92) shows 
the original end of the building prior to its extension both northwards and 
upwards. The older wall section is constructed in English bond, with an extant 
section of wall plate above. The later walls are constructed partially above the 
older wall plate, corresponding with a presumed increase in ceiling/roof height. 
The ceiling is also of hardboard. 

 
Room 16 (Formerly the Toilet) 

 
5.1.33 Room 16 (Plate 93) features a stud partition to the stairs, with access to its 

east. The room has a linoleum floor. The west wall of the room is of brick in 
English bond. A window is set in the west wall, being shared across the stair 
and bathroom, and clearly indicating the later insertion of the stairs within the 
room (Plate 94). The ceiling above the room is hardboard having been lowered 
at some time during the 20th century. The original ceiling is visible above the 
room from the stair, being of lath and plaster, with a hatch to the roof space 
above (Plate 95). The stud wall originally continued to the older ceiling level, 
but was cut short when the lower ceiling was implemented. 

 
 Room 17 (Formerly the Day Nursery and Miss Woods’ Room) 
 
5.1.34 The former day nursery is described in the 1828 deed as the best bedroom 

and dressing room. The room is presently a large rectangular room with a 
timber floor (Plate 96). The room is accessed to the west end of the north wall. 
A blocked doorway led east down a presumed set of steps to Room 18, as 
indicated by a change in brick infill and a scar in the flooring. The form of the 
room seems to suggest humbler origins as a possible agricultural building – 
with no original fenestration apparent at this level and is of a style of 
construction consistent with many 18th- and early 19th-century agricultural 
buildings. 

 
5.1.35 The walls are of lightweight primary-braced timber studwork, which has 

subsequently been infilled with brick to east, south and west, while being 
wholly of brick construction to the north. The timber framing is of a type which 
is broadly dateable to the 18th and 19th centuries. Amongst the timber framing 
are a number of elements which have clearly been reused from an earlier 
structure, as indicated by obsolete mortices and peg holes (Plate 97). The east 
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wall is interesting as it contains timber-frame elements that are inconsistent 
with the rest of the framing.  These take the form of a post which stands to the 
immediate north of a full height post; the former carries a horizontal timber – 
possibly a wall plate to which it is jointed and pegged (Plate 98).  Above this 
the wall has been extended upwards by slender studwork of a similar nature to 
that elsewhere, the whole implying that the incongruous elements survive as 
fragments of an earlier structure that has been extended outwards to the south 
as well as upwards. Two windows, one large and one small, are set in the 
south wall of the room. Both windows are certainly inserted, as they interrupt 
several timber frame elements, although it is possible that these represent 
enlargements of original smaller apertures. The larger window is supported 
below by two large reused timbers replete with obsolete mortices. 

 
5.1.36 A chimney stack and wall originally divided the area in two, forming a smaller 

room to the east, and larger to the west. A section of the chimney stack 
remains against the north wall (Plate 99), while scars on the floor and a 
change in floorboard alignment indicate where the wall and fireplaces were 
formerly situated. The smaller room would likely have been Miss Woods’ 
Room, and the dressing room described in 1828. On account of the north wall 
being wholly of brick construction, it is presumed to relate to the construction of 
Rooms 1 and 14.  However, it is possible that it could represent yet another 
phase of construction, as is suggested by the possible window observed in 
Room 14 (see Section 5.1.32) which seems to lie at a level inconsistent with 
the existing floor levels.  Not enough was visible to arrive at a firm conclusion. 
The ceiling is a later insertion (likely later 20th century). A hatch in the roof 
provided a view of the roof construction above (see Section 5.1.42 below). 

 
 Room 18 (Formerly the Night Nursery) 
 
5.1.37 Room 18 (Plates 100 and 101) is a rectangular room, which along with Room 

19 to its east, appears to have been in place prior to 1842; however, it is not 
certain quite how early its origins are.  Of note is that the floor level is 
approximately 1m lower in the room than in Room 17, which would correspond 
well with the floor level of the earlier building which seems to be represented 
within the wall on the west side of the room (see Section 5.1.35 above).  
However, there was no clear evidence available at the time of the survey to 
confirm that this part of the building encompasses further remains of the earlier 
structure and the external walls at least firmly 19th century in date, and post-
date the primary –braced timber-framing of Room 7 which it abuts. The room is 
accessed to the north from Room 14, while the blocked doorway to Room 17 
(see above) is apparent in the west wall (Plate 102). The room has a boarded 
timber floor.  

 
5.1.38 The west wall reflects the observations from Room 17, with the floor level of 

that room visible in section, with the presumed earlier structure descending to 
the floor level of Room 18. The difference in brick fabric between the two 
phases is also readily apparent. A void in the brick atop the post of the older 
structure may correspond the location of a removed wall plate. The south wall 
is constructed in Flemish bond with an inserted uPVC window. A blocked 
window opening with a timber lintel was observed at the east end of the south 
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wall, in a position which implies that the room may have been larger, originally 
incorporating Room 19. The east wall features what appears to be a later 20th-
century stud wall partition, with a chimney stack to its south. The chimney 
stack is constructed in stretcher bond with a simple fireplace at its base. The 
ceiling is likely of plasterboard.  

 
 Room 19 (Formerly the Housekeeper’s Room) 
 
5.1.39 Room 19 (Plate 103) features a hardboard floor, brick walls in Flemish bond to 

south and east, a plastered brick wall to north, and a hardboard wall to west 
with a plastered chimneystack to its south. A fireplace is situated within the 
stack (Plate 104). A single bond timber was observed in the south wall. An 
original window opening is set in the east wall, with a timber lintel overlain with 
a row of soldier coursed bricks. A window has been inserted in the south wall. 
The room features a mid-20th century plasterboard ceiling with a plain and 
rather uninspired cornice.  

 
 Room 20 (Formerly Maid’s Bedroom) 
 
5.1.40 The former maid’s bedroom is a part of the early 20th century extension at the 

east end of the building. The room is a simple rectangular room with timber 
boarded floor, with a single doorway to the landing (Room 10) to its west (Plate 
105). The brickwork within the doorway to the room clearly shows it abutting 
the earlier brickwork within the stair (Plate 106). The floor level within the room 
is slightly above that of the landing, which is higher than the floor levels in 
Room 14 and 19 in turn. The exterior walls are constructed of Fletton bricks in 
Flemish bond, set with an original window opening to the north, and an 
inserted window to the east. A small fireplace is situated to the south side of 
the room. Finally, the ceiling appears to be of plasterboard construction.  

 
 Room 21 (Formerly the Master Bedrooms) 
 
5.1.41 Room 21 (Plate 107) occupies the entire upper floor of the Old Hall. Though 

the room is presently a single room, it would have been divided into three 
bedrooms and a corridor originally, as clearly indicated by remnant sections of 
stud wall and doorways and vertical scars on the walls. The room is accessed 
to the north via the stair from Room 14, and to the west via an inserted door to 
the late 20th-century school building beyond. The doorway to the west has 
been boarded up. The room is floored with timber boards, orientated north-
south. The walls are constructed in Flemish bond. The walls are set with a 
series of three uPVC windows within original timber frames to the south (Plate 
108), a single rotating six-pane window within a reeded frame to the east 
(Plate 109), and two windows to the north. The windows to the north consist of 
a triple-casement window with six-pane overlights (Plate 110), and a single-
casement window which forms a part of the double-casement window in the 
stair/Room 16 (Plate 111). The windows are likely 20th century in date. A 
fireplace is situated to the southeast of the room, associated with a semi-
external chimney stack seen to the exterior (Plate 112). To the west site of the 
room are two particularly charming early gas fires with stepped surrounds, 
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which appear to have been inserted within earlier fireplaces (Plates 113 and 
114). The ceiling is presumed to be of lath-and-plaster construction. 

 
 The Roof 
 
5.1.42 The roof space was only observed for the southern of the two roofs of the core 

building, and not at all for the Old Hall. The roof to the southern part of the core 
building was observed through a hatch in Room 17. The roof appears to be of 
19th or early 20th century date, and considering the external appearance of the 
roofs is likely representative of the unobserved roof spaces. The roof hipped at 
either end and has principal trusses with raking queen struts supporting a 
single purlin in each pitch.  The common rafters meet at a ridgeboard at the 
apex, and utilise of a mix of likely-reused and newer softwood timbers overlain 
with slate tiles (Plate 115). Rafter bracing was observed in places. 

 
5.2  Block B 
 

Overview 
 
5.2.1 Block B is a late 20th-century school building, formerly the art building, situated 

to the north of the school. The building presently functions as the reception. 
The structure is rectangular in plan, with its principal elevation to the west. 

 
Elevations 

 
5.2.2 Block B is of breezeblock construction, with a side-gabled slate roof with 

projecting eaves ornamented by a simple, nonetheless pleasing, clock weather 
vein. The building’s principal elevation features two doorways to either side of 
a central brick-built bay window (Plate 116). To the front of the elevation is a 
wooden patio area. The principal access is via the south elevation, which 
features a porticoed doorway with ramp access, and a window (Plate 117). 
The north elevation is set with a single window, while the east elevation 
features two small windows to the bathroom. 

 
 Interior 
 
5.2.3 The interior of Block B is made up of a large reception room to the west (Plate 

118), with a small hall to the south-east, and a storage room to its east. A 
bathroom is situated north of the hallway. 

 
5.3  Block C 
 

Overview 
 
5.3.1 Block C is a two-storey building that first appears on the 1872 OS mapping, 

and is presumably of mid-19th century origin. The building is situated to the 
east of Block A, abutting Block D to its east. The building has been fairly 
substantially altered inside and out; with historic mapping showing that the 
original structure had a lean-to or extension to the west of the existing building, 
which had been removed by 1933. Many of the alterations appear to have 
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occurred during the later 20th century. The building was originally a workers 
cottage, which incorporated a part of an earlier structure to its east (which 
appears on the 1842 tithe map) as a porch/utility space. The earlier structure 
would originally have been a part of Block D. The principal elevation is to the 
south.  

 
Elevations 

 
5.3.2 The building has a hipped roof with projecting eaves. The building is 

constructed of brick in Flemish bond. The principal elevation (Plate 119) 
presents an altered façade with a likely inserted doorway and window at 
ground level, and an inserted oriel window on the first floor. A secondary 
doorway with a front-gabled hood supported on console brackets leads into the 
porch building. Above the porch is an inserted weather-boarded first-floor 
extension.  
 

5.3.3 The west elevation is blank, consisting of painted brickwork. A number of scars 
in the brickwork indicate where the removed extension/lean-to would have 
been situated.  
 

5.3.4 The north elevation (Plate 120) features three inserted windows at ground 
level, two leading to the porch and one to the cottage. A line in the brickwork 
here clearly shows the cottage abutting the porch. The roof of the porch is 
parapeted to the north, masking a pitched roof behind.  
 

5.3.5 The east elevation is partly masked by Block D. The elevation features a metal 
framed sliding window to the porch at ground level (Plate 121). The first floor 
extension extends only part way across the east elevation, and features a 
second east facing window. 

 
 Interior 
 
5.3.6 The interior of the cottage is made up of a single ground floor room, with the 

porch/utility room to its east. Stairs lead from the ground floor room to a single 
room, formerly a bedroom, on the first floor. To the east of the bedroom is the 
small first floor extension. 

 
 Ground Floor Room 
 
5.3.7 The ground floor room (Plate 122) of the cottage features a carpeted floor, 

plain skirting board, and a plastered walls overlain with an unlikely choice of 
patterned wallpaper. To the rear (north) of the room is a 20th-century fireplace. 
A staircase ascends from the north-east corner of the room, turning at a 
quarter landing, before reaching the first floor. The stair features a closed 
string, plain square sectioned newel post atop a bullnosed stair, and a handrail 
supported by two thin vase balusters. The ceiling is supported by two large 
chamfered beams and consists of plasterboard panels. 
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Porch/Utility Room 
 
5.3.8 The room actually consists of three similar rooms which originally formed a 

part of Block D, before being integrated into the cottage (Block C). The rooms 
are utilitarian, with concrete floors. The first room (with doors to the outside 
and the ground floor room) has a pine-board clad ceiling, and wallpapered 
walls, with tiles on its east wall (Plate 123). The other two rooms are similar, 
and all are currently in use as storage (Plate 124). 

 
 Bedroom 
 
5.3.9 The first floor room (Plate 125) is accessed from via the stair form the ground 

floor. The top of the stair leads through a likely original simple timber door. The 
room is carpeted, with skirting boards at floor level, below wallpapered walls. A 
boiler and water tank is situated within a pine cupboard in the south-east 
corner of the room. There would likely have been a fireplace in the north of the 
room, but it has since been blocked. An inserted doorway leads to the first floor 
extension to the east, with a blocked window opening just to its south. The 
ceiling is of plasterboard.  

 
 First Floor Extension 
 
5.3.10 The first floor extension (Plate 126) is of timber and plasterboard construction, 

with a carpeted floor overlying timber floor boards. The ceiling is also of 
plasterboard. 

 
 Roof 
 
5.3.11 The roof space (Plate 127) was visible via a hole in the ceiling in the bedroom. 

The roof construction appears similar to that seen in Block A – with softwood 
timbers and probable reused timbers supporting a ridgeboard above. Being 
small in size the roof does not appear to have any purlins or stud supports, 
being supported instead by the common rafters. The roof structure is overlain 
with slate tiles. 

 
5.4  Block D 
 

Overview 
 
5.4.1 Block D is an L-shaped brick building constructed in Flemish bond that first 

appears on the 1842 tithe mapping, and is presumably of early 19th century 
date. The east end of the building is of two storeys and has a hipped roof with 
projecting eaves and a timber soffit. The building is situated to the east of, and 
abutting, Block C. The building appears to have originally been a cart shed and 
store, with worker’s accommodation above. The building retains its role as a 
store. The principal elevation is to the south.  
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Elevations 
 
5.4.2 The south elevation of the two storey section is blank, while the lower section 

features a covered area to its front, below which a doorway leads to the interior 
of the building at its north end (Plate 128). The awning is of steel girder 
construction overlain with hardboard, and is likely a 20th-century insertion. The 
door is timber, with strap hinges, latch, and horizontal bracing to the rear. The 
door appears to be late 19th or early 20th century in date.  
 

5.4.3 The west elevation of the two-storey section has a simple horned sash window 
at first floor level, with a two-leaf timber cart door at ground level (Plate 129). 
The door appears to be of a similar date to the door on the south elevation, 
being of similar construction. 
 

5.4.4 The east elevation faces onto Finchampstead Road and is blank. The east end 
of the lower building is set with a single inserted window (Plate 130). A 
downpipe with a flared hopper head descends from the corner of the elevation. 
 

5.4.5 The north elevation of the south section of Block D is also blank. The north 
elevation (Plate 131) of the lower section features a parapeted roofline, 
masking a pitched roof behind. An inserted doorway is situated to the west end 
of the elevation. 

 
Interior 
 

5.4.5 The interior of the two-storey section of the building is formed of a single 
ground floor room (Cart Room), with a single first floor room above. Within the 
lower section of the building is a cross passage (created by the insertion of the 
doorway in the north elevation) and a storage room situated east of the 
passage. To the west are three rooms which were formerly a part of Block D 
but have since been incorporated into Block C. 
 
Cart Room 
 

5.4.6 The cart room (Plate 132) is a simple square-shaped room with a brick floor 
and bared brick walls with a plasterboard ceiling above. Two chamfered 
bressumers span the room, tying into large bond timbers, supporting the joists 
above. A simple timber stair climbs the south side of the room to the floor 
above. At the top of the north wall the base of a chimney for the room above is 
supported by three timber supports (Plate 133). 
 
First Floor Room 
 

5.4.7 The first floor room (Plate 134) is floored with substantial timber boards. A 
simple skirting board runs around the room, morphing into the base of the 
window trim, and rising into a very simple architrave. The walls are plastered. 
A skeiling ceiling adds height to the room, and is presumably formed from lath-
and-plaster. At the north end of the room is a small fireplace (Plate 135) with 
an unornamented chimney piece. The fireplace is cast-iron, with a simple grille 
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and decorative surround adorned with a simple repeating pattern of stripes, 
concentric circles and flowers. 
 
Cross Passage and storage room 
 

5.4.8 The cross passage (Plate 136) and storage room (Plate 137) both feature 
concrete floors, bared brick walls, and pitched ceilings to the north. Within the 
cross passage is what appears to be a blocked doorway to the rooms to the 
west (now Block C). The doorway to the storage room is a 20th-century timber 
door with cross bracing. 
 
Roof 
 

5.4.9 The roof space of the two-storey section of the building was not accessible, 
though it is assumed to be of similar construction to that of Block C. The 
pitched roof above the lower section is of common rafter construction.  
 

5.5  Block E 
 

Overview 
 
5.5.1 Block E is an irregular shaped two-storey brick building constructed in Flemish 

bond that first appears on the 1842 tithe mapping, and is presumably of early 
19th century date. The building has a hipped roof with projecting eaves and a 
timber soffit, topped with a bevelled timber and iron lightning rod. Block E is 
situated to the south of Block D. The building appears to have been fairly 
substantially altered, with clear section of repair to the brickwork (in English 
bond), an extension to the south with a catslide-style roof, and a single-storey 
bay extension to the west. The bay extension is of later 20th-century date. The 
principal elevation is to the west.  

 
Elevations 
 

5.5.2 The principal elevation (Plates 138 and 139) is dominated by the bay 
extension, set with a single doorway and window and constructed in English 
bond, with the extension to the south being set with a secondary doorway and 
two inserted windows. The doorway to the south extension appears to have 
been inserted within an earlier doorway, while the windows have been inserted 
over an earlier blocked window. Both the earlier doorway and window had 
segmental arch lintels which remain extant. Above the bay extension, the 
original building features three rectangular vents just below the roofline. 
 

5.5.3 The north elevation features three inserted windows. One of the windows, to 
the west of the elevation, is inserted within an earlier blocked doorway 
surmounted by a segmental arch. The other two windows have been crudely 
inserted, with a substantial amount of intervening original brickwork being 
removed and replaced in stretcher bond.  
 

5.5.4 The east elevation facing onto Finchampstead Road is blank. The south 
elevation of the south extension is set with a single inserted window opening.  
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Interior 
 
5.5.5 The interior of Block D is formed of a single ground floor room, incorporating 

both extensions by knocking through the earlier walls (Plates 140 and 141). 
The first floor was not accessible at the time of the survey, and is presumably 
used for storage. The ground floor room is heavily altered for use as a 
classroom, with plastered and painted walls, inserted cabinets, vinyl flooring, 
and a woodchip-papered ceiling.  

 
 

6 DISCUSSION 
 
6.1 Evendons Primary School is a site with a complex site history, reflecting a 

near constant redevelopment and evolution of the buildings through the 18th, 
19th, 20th and early 21st centuries. The site is a good example of the 
gentrification of the countryside within the periphery of London during the 19th 

century. The buildings also embody elements of the last chapter in the story of 
the former White House School.  

 
6.2 The core building, formerly the residence, within Block A appears to have 

evolved from an 18th-century building, which itself incorporated elements of an 
earlier timber-framed building, and which was then expanded to the south, 
east, and west in a series of developments. The earliest elements of the 
building seem to suggest a humble origin for the residence which is reflected 
in the earliest known name for the site as East Heath Cottage.  It is likely that 
the site grew in status over time, as residences within a commutable vicinity of 
London became increasingly in demand, and as each consecutive owner or 
tenant extended and improved on the residence. Many of the late 19th-century 
and early 20th-century alterations and additions, including the construction of 
the ‘Old Hall’ can be attributed to the Garrard family, reflecting a clear influx of 
wealth and investment at the site. The large-scale late 20th-century additions 
to the former residence reflect the great increase in demand for school 
spaces, improvements in government standards of education, and increasing 
public demand for quality. 

 
6.2 Many of the internal alterations reflect the repurposing of spaces, from 

master’s quarters to servants’ quarters, from servants’ quarters to school 
rooms. A lack of original fittings likely reflects their poor state of repair by the 
mid-20th century when many windows and other timber elements were 
replaced. 

 
6.3 The various outbuildings have also undergone some significant alterations, 

though most have retained much of their basic early form and function. The 
degradation of buildings such as Blocks C and D reflect their increasing 
obsolescence following during the 20th century, with the less need for on-site 
accommodation and extensive storage. Nevertheless the outbuildings remain 
an important part of the site’s history, and a clear reminder of the site’s earlier 
agricultural origins.  
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8.0 DEPOSITION OF THE ARCHIVE 
 
A full archive intended for deposition with a suitable local museum. The 
archive will be prepared according to the principles of Management of 
Research Projects in the Historic Environment (MoRPHE) (English Heritage 
2008) and the requirements of the recipient museum. The archive will 
comprise a hard copy of the full report, a pdf version of the report on CD, the 
full photographic record with registers, field notes and drawings.  
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PLATES 

Plate 1: Principal (north) elevation of Block A. (#62) 



Plate 2: Presumed original horned sash and oeil-de-boeuf windows (centre) in north elevation of 
Block A. (#53) 

Plate 3: Presumed early 20th-century windows in north elevation of Block A. (#60) 



Plate 4: Tiled hoods and moulded brackets above window in the north elevation of the Old Hall. (#55) 

Plate 5: Garage/shed to the west of the residence. (#56) 



Plate 6: Moulded cornice on north elevation of Block A. (#61) 

Plate 7: South and west elevations of the 20th-century extension to the west of Block A. (#50) 



Plate 8: West elevation of the 20th-century extensions to the south of Block A. (#51) 

Plate 9: South elevation of Block A, with the Old Hall to the centre. (#35) 



Plate 10: South elevation of the core building. (#29) 

Plate 11: Ground floor window of the Old Hall, south elevation. (#38) 



Plate 12: Inserted doorway in the south elevation of the Old Hall. (#37) 

Plate 13: Remnant veranda on south elevation of the core building. (#28) 



Plate 14: East elevation of the core building. (#7) 

Plate 15: Bay window in east elevation of the core building. (#3) 



Plate 16: Secondary entrance on the north side of the east elevation of the core building. (#4) 

Plate 17: Example of an extant architrave, Room 2. (#89) 



Plate 18: Detailed examples of extant architrave and skirting form, Room 2. (#103 and #104) 

Plate 19: Overview of Room 1. (#63) 



Plate 20: Overview of Room 1. (#65) 

Plate 21: Bond timber in north wall of Room 1 – note the void peg hole implying a reuse of timber. 
(#71) 



Plate 22: Construction of the ceiling in Room 1. (#70) 

Plate 23: Overview of the porch, Room 2. (#82) 



Plate 24: Overview of the porch, Room 2. (#83) 

Plate 25: Overview of the hall, Room 2. (#85) 



Plate 26: Fireplace within the hall, Room 2. (#86) 

Plate 27: Example of the brickwork on the east wall of the hall, Room 2. (#105) 



Plate 28: Ceiling construction in the hall, Room 2. (#88) 

Plate 29: Overview of the stairs, Room 2. Note the bond timber at the base of the wall to the left. (#98) 



Plate 30: Stair trim and beaded spandrel, Room 2. (#120) 

Plate 31: Construction of the stair, Room 2. (#94) 



Plate 32: Overview of Room 3. (#116) 

Plate 33: Inserted French door, Room 3. (#324) 



Plate 34: Fireplace, Room 3. (#117) 

Plate 35: Ceiling construction, Room 3. (#119) 



Plate 36: Archway above passage between Rooms 2 and 3. (#97) 

Plate 37: Overview of Room 4. (#113)



Plate 38: Horned sash window detail, Room 4. (#108) 

Plate 39: Edwardian tiles, Room 4. (#107) 



Plate 40: Overview of Room 5. (#121) 

Plate 41: Overview of Room 5. (#124) 



Plate 42: Window detail, Room 5. (#133) 

Plate 43: Small door to servants’ corridor, Room 5. (#134) 



Plate 44: Fireplace, Room 5. (#126) 

Plate 45: A blocked doorway to the Old Hall is revealed by a timber lintel in the west wall of Room 5. 
(#129) 



Plate 46: Overview of Room 6. (#151) 

Plate 47: Half-timbered door, south wall, Room 6. Note the barrier to the basement stairs. (#149) 



Plate 48: Stairs down to the basement, Room 6. (#148) 

Plate 49: Blocked window in south wall of Room 6. (#155) 



Plate 50: Exposed flue, Room 6. (#145) 

Plate 51: Bond timbers in west wall of Room 6. (#147) 



Plate 52: Joists above the west end of Room 6. (#149) 

Plate 53: Ceiling construction in the east end of Room 6. (#153) 



Plate 54: Overview of Room 7. (#161) 

Plate 55: Altered fireplace, Room 7. (#167) 



Plate 56: Service hatch extension at south end of Room 7. (#168) 

Plate 57: Removed wall, inserted beam, and obsolete girder in Room 7. (#324) 



Plate 58: Overview of Room 8. (#201) 

Plate 59: Bathroom, Room 8. (#208) 



Plate 60: Bathroom, Room 8. (#211) 

Plate 61: Inserted window in the south wall of Room 8. (#209) 



Plate 62: Overview of the servants’ corridor (Room 9). (#139) 

Plate 63: remnant section of inserted floor at the base of the stairs, Room 9/10. (#180) 



Plate 64: Lath-and-plaster ceiling at the west end of the corridor (Room 9). (#138) 

Plate 65: Overview of the servants’ corridor (Room 9) showing the construction of the ceiling at its east 
end. (#142) 



Plate 66: Overview of the servants’ stair (Room 10). (#170) 

Plate 67: Stairs, Room 10. (#177) 



Plate 68: Stairs, Room 10. (#310) 

Plate 69: Chimney stack, Room 10. Note the wall scar. (#319 



Plate 70: Overview of the landing and stairs, Room 10. (#321) 

Plate 71: Inserted chimney stack, Room 10. (#308) 



Plate 72: Inserted chimney stack and blocked opening, Room 10. (#185) 

Plate 73: Overview of the former bathroom. Note the bond timbers and sash window in the north wall, 
Room 10. (#318) 



Plate 74: Oeil-de-boeuf window, Room 10. (#191) 

Plate 75: Skylight above Room 10. (#316) 



Plate 76: Overview of Room 11. (#190) 

Plate 77: Overview of Room 12. (#195) 



Plate 78: Overview of Room 13. (#213) 

Plate 79: Overview of Room 13. (#217) 



Plate 80: Overview of the curved bay window, Room 13. (#215) 

Plate 81: Overview of window in south wall of Room 13. (#218) 



Plate 82: Overview of the ceiling, Room 13. (#221) 

Plate 83: Overview of Room 14. (#222) 



Plate 84: Overview of Room 14. (#303) 

Plate 85: Studs walls encompassing the main stair, Room 14. (#288) 



Plate 86: Continuation of the staircase, Room 14. (#226) 

Plate 87: Second flight of stairs, with steps north leading to Rooms 15 and 16. (#245) 



Plate 88: Second flight of stairs to Room 21. (#250) 

Plate 89: Blocked window opening and bond timbers, Room 14. (#289) 



Plate 90: Fireplace at the west end of Room 14. Note the difference in construction between the 
chimney stack and wall to its north (right). (#224) 

Plate 91: Overview of Room 15. (#256) 



Plate 92: Change in wall construction and height, Room 15. (#255) 

Plate 93: Overview of Room 16. (#246) 



Plate 94: Window split across stair, Room 16 and Room 21 (#247) 

Plate 95: Ceiling and hatch above Room 16. (#287) 



Plate 96: Overview of Room 17. (#228) 

Plate 97: Reused timber with defunct mortice, Room 17. (#260) 



Plate 98: Intersection of construction phases in the east wall of Room 17. (#232) 

Plate 99: Remnant chimney stack and wall, Room 17. (#265) 



Plate 100: Overview of Room 18. (#292) 

Plate 101: Overview of Room 18. (#291) 



Plate 102: Blocked doorway west to Room 17, Room 18. (#293) 

Plate 103: Overview of Room 19. (#295) 



Plate 104: Fireplace, Room 19. (#296) 

Plate 105: Overview of Room 20. (#304) 



Plate 106: Intersection of brickwork of Rooms 10 (right) and 20 (left). (#307) 

Plate 107: Overview of Room 21. (#267) 



Plate 108: Window in the south wall of Room 21. (#272) 

Plate 109: Small window in eat wall of Room 21. (#268) 



Plate 110: Triple-casement window in the north wall of Room 21. (#273) 

Plate 111: Window in north wall of Room 21 forming part of a wrap-around window to the stair and 
Room 16 to the north. (#284) 



Plate 112: Fireplace, Room 21. (#271) 

Plate 113: Gas fireplace, Room 21. (#275) 



Plate 114: Gas fireplace, Room 21. (#279) 

Plate 115: Roof space above Room 17. (#235) 



Plate 116: Principal (west) and north elevations of Block B. (#329) 

Plate 117: South and east elevations of Block B. (#327) 



Plate 118: Overview of the reception, Block B. (#333) 

Plate 119: Principal (south) and east elevations of Block C. (#341) 



Plate 120: North elevation of Block C. (#382) 

Plate 121: Lower east elevation of Block C. (#411) 



Plate 122: Overview of the ground floor room. (#351) 

Plate 123: Overview of the porch, Block C. (#375) 



Plate 124: Utility room, Block C. (#372) 

Plate 125: Overview of the bedroom, Block C. (#358) 



Plate 126: First floor extension, Block C. (#366) 

Plate 127: Roof space, Block C. (#368) 



Plate 128: Principal (south) and west elevations of Block D. (#393) 

Plate 129: Cart doors, Block D. (#410) 



Plate 130: Window and downpipe, east elevation of Block D. (#346) 

Plate 131: North elevation of Block D. (#384) 



Plate 132: Overview of the cart room, Block D. (#399) 

Plate 133: Base of the first floor fireplace within the cart room, Block D. (#406) 



Plate 134: Overview of the first floor room, Block D. (#407) 

Plate 135: Fireplace in the first floor room, Block D. (#408) 



Plate 136: Cross passage, Block D. (#418) 

Plate 137: Storage room, Block D. (#415) 



Plate 138: Principal (west) and north elevations of Block E. (#420) 

Plate 139: Principal (west) elevation of the south extension, Block D. (#426) 



Plate 140: Overview of the interior of Block E. (#427) 

Plate 141: Overview of the interior of Block E. (#429) 
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